#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case Nos. : SC15-780; SC15-890

Upon Request From the Attorney General For An Advisory Opinion As To the Validity Of An Initiative Petition

## ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL RE: LIMITS OR PREVENTS BARRIERS TO LOCAL SOLAR ELECTRICITY SUPPLY

# ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL RE: LIMITS OR PREVENTS BARRIERS TO LOCAL SOLAR ELECTRICITY SUPPLY (FIS)

#### **ANSWER BRIEF OF**

The Florida Electric Cooperatives Association, Inc. (Filed in Opposition to the Initiative Petition)

#### HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP

Stephen H. Grimes (FBN 32005) D. Bruce May, Jr. (FBN 354473) P.O. Drawer 810 Tallahassee, FL 32302 Ph. (850) 224-7000 FLORIDA ELECTRIC COOPERATIVES ASSOCIATION, INC. William B. Willingham (FBN 879045) Michelle L. Hershel (FBN 832588) 2916 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32301 Ph. (850) 877-6166

Counsel for Opponent, The Florida Electric Cooperatives Association, Inc.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

INTRODUCTION		
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT		
ARGUMENT		3
I.	The Proposed Amendment Substantially Alters The Functions of More Than One Branch of Government As Well As More Than One Level of Government	3
II.	The Ballot Title And Summary Are Defective	9
	A. The Title and Summary are Misleading	9
	B. The Title and Summary Fail to Advise the Voter of the Initiative's Full Meaning, Chief Purpose, and Ramifications.	12
CONCLUSION		.15
CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND OF SERVICE16		

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Cases

# Page(s)

Advisory Opinion of the Att'y Gen. re 1.35% Property Tax Cap, Unless Voter Approved, 2 So. 3d 968 (Fla. 2009)
Advisory Opinion to the Att'y Gen. re: Casino Authorization, <u>Taxation and Regulation</u> , 656 So. 2d 466 (Fla. 1995)10, 11
Advisory Opinion to the Att'y Gen. re Limited Casinos, 644 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1994)5, 6
Advisory Opinion to Att'y Gen. re Nonpartisan Comm'n To Apportion Legislative and Congressional Districts, 926 So. 2d 1218, 1227 (Fla. 2006)9
Advisory Opinion of the Att'y Gen. re Peoples Property Rights, 699 So. 2d 1304, 1309 (Fla. 1997)11
Advisory Opinion of the Att'y Gen Save Our Everglades, 636 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1994)3
<u>Armstrong v. Harris,</u> 773 So. 2d 7 ( Fla. 2000)9, 10
<u>Askew v. Firestone,</u> 421 So. 2d 151 (Fla. 1982)2, 13
<u>City of Tallahassee v. Mann,</u> 411 So.2d 162 (Fla. 1982)5

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The Florida Electric Cooperatives Association, Inc. ("FECA") submitted an initial brief opposing the Solar Initiative on June 10, 2015, and hereby responds to the arguments raised in the initial brief of Floridians For Solar Choice, Inc., the sponsor of the Initiative ("Sponsor").

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

## The Single Subject Requirement

The Sponsor essentially argues that the Solar Initiative does not violate the single subject requirement because it only affects the Legislature and the Florida Public Service Commission ("PSC"), and has no substantial effects on other branches or levels of state or local government. Sponsor's argument ignores the fact that the amendment would do more than radically alter the way that the Legislature and the PSC govern the provision of electricity in this state, it would substantially curtail the functions of the executive branch and its agencies, and all levels state and local government. Sponsor's failure to acknowledge the Initiative's substantial effect on the functions of state and local government is especially troubling since subsection (b)(4) would expressly usurp the authority of all levels of state and local government to require local solar generating facilities to comply with zoning, environmental, and any other health, safety or welfare regulations. The obvious encroachments on the various branches of government, and on all

levels of state and local government, constitute a clear violation of the singlesubject requirement.

#### The Ballot Title and Summary

The ballot title and summary are fundamentally misleading because they create the false impression that there are current intractable barriers to the use of solar power when Florida's actual policy is to "promote, stimulate, develop, and advance the growth of the solar energy industry", section 288.041(2), Florida Statutes, and to encourage "the use of solar energy", section 366.81, Florida Statutes.

The Sponsor claims that the ballot title and summary are sufficient because they accurately recap the literal text of the amendment. Assuming Sponsor's claims are correct, which they are not, the summary is still fatally flawed because it fails to alert the voter to the proposed amendment's serious ramifications. In other words, the problem lies not with what the summary says, but rather with what it fails to say. <u>See Askew v. Firestone</u>, 421 So. 2d 151, 155-56 (Fla. 1982). Voters are given no indication that the amendment would override "any" state or local health, safety or welfare regulation if, in the sole judgment of the local solar electricity supplier ("LSES"), regulatory compliance would be prohibitive for financial reasons or any other reason. Nor are voters informed that existing law authorizes the PSC to protect customers of private for-profit utilities from poor service, unreasonable rates, and unsafe practices, and that this Initiative would take those protections away from LSES customers. Moreover, the summary fails to warn voters that the amendment would ultimately require customers that do not consume solar power from a LSES to pay higher rates to subsidize service to customers that do. Surely voters are entitled to be advised of these ramifications in the ballot summary before they case their vote. By concealing more than it reveals the summary precludes the voter from casting "an intelligent and informed ballot." <u>Advisory Opinion to the Att'y Gen. - Save Our Everglades</u>, 636 So. 2d 1336, 1341 (Fla. 1994).

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT SUBSTANTIALLY ALTERS THE FUNCTIONS OF MORE THAN ONE BRANCH OF GOVERNMENT AS WELL AS MORE THAN ONE LEVEL OF GOVERNMENT.

The Sponsor concedes that the proposed amendment would limit the regulatory authority of the Legislature, but then summarily concludes that it does not violate the single subject requirement because it "has no substantial effect on the function of any other branch or level of government, including local governments." [Sponsor In. Br. 17.] Even a cursory study of the amendment reveals that its impact extends well beyond the legislative branch and substantially curtails the functions of the executive as well as the legislative branches and all levels state and local government. For example:

- Subsection (a) confirms that the purpose of the amendment is to promote the production of local solar electricity by "preventing regulatory and economic barriers . . . imposed by <u>state or local government</u>";
- Subsection (b)(1) provides that a "local solar electricity supplier . . . shall not be subject to <u>state or local government regulation</u> with respect to rates, service, or territory, or be subject to any assignment, reservation or division of service territory between or among electric utilities."
- Subsection (c)(4) broadly defines "<u>local government</u>" to include "any county, municipality, special district, authority, or any other subdivision of the state."

Later in its brief, the Sponsor is forced to admit that the amendment prohibits local governments from regulating the rates and service quality of a LSES, but then dismisses that prohibition as "nominal" by claiming that the regulation of electricity suppliers is already beyond the control of local governments and is within the exclusive domain of the PSC. [Sponsor In. Br. 17, 21.] The Sponsor is mistaken as to the current scope of the PSC's jurisdiction and misinforms the Court that all local governments have no role in setting rates when in fact the Initiative would expressly interfere with the ratemaking authority of all 34 of Florida's municipally-owned electric utilities. While the PSC has exclusive regulatory jurisdiction over the rates and services of investor-owned electric utilities like Florida Power & Light and Gulf Power, the agency's exclusive jurisdiction over investor-owned utilities does not extend to municipally-owned electric utilities whose rates and services are primarily regulated by local government utility boards. <u>City of Tallahassee v. Mann</u>, 411 So. 2d 162, 163 (Fla. 1982) (the Court expressly acknowledged that the PSC does not have jurisdiction over a municipal electric utility's rates).<sup>1</sup> Thus, the regulatory proscriptions in the proposed amendment would limit the regulatory functions of those local governmental entities just as severely as they limit the functions of the PSC.

In an effort to shore up its claim that the Solar Initiative does not substantially affect local governments, the Sponsor makes multiple references to <u>Advisory Opinion to the Att'y Gen. re Limited Casinos</u>, 644 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1994). However, that case actually highlights a critical defect in the Solar Initiative. The proposed amendment in <u>Limited Casinos</u> authorized a limited number of casinos in certain specified counties. The opponents in that case argued that the proposal violated the single-subject requirement because it performed functions of local governments and the executive branch in the areas of zoning, planning, land use and environmental regulation. While the Court ultimately approved the proposal, it did so only after carefully determining that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The actual tasks of determining the amount of revenues required to operate the municipal utility and "the dollar amount charged for a particular service or an established amount of consumption" are not within the PSC's jurisdiction, rather they are within the purview of the municipal utility's governing board. 411 So. 2d 163-64. The PSC's jurisdiction over rates of municipally-owned utilities is limited to "rate structure" (i.e., ensuring that the rates are designed to fairly allocate the utility's cost of service among the various classes of customers so that one customer class is not required to bear more than their fair share). <u>Id</u>.

Nothing in the petition usurps, interferes with, or affects, the powers and authority of the executive branch of government or of local governments to integrate casinos into existing governmental policies for planning, zoning, land use, or environmental considerations. <u>There</u> is no directive in the petition for an override of local or state environmental, land use, or regulatory policies.

Id. at 74 (emphasis added).

Unlike the initiative in <u>Limited Casinos</u>, subsection (b)(4) of the Solar Initiative includes a provision that would expressly override state or local environmental, zoning and any other health, safety or welfare regulations if compliance therewith would "prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the supply of solar-generated electricity by a local solar electricity supplier." This provision would render unenforceable any state or local health, safety or welfare regulation if, in the sole judgment of the LSES, complying with the regulation would be prohibitive for financial reasons or any other reason. The likelihood that a LSES would claim that regulatory compliance is cost prohibitive is foreshadowed in the Sponsor's brief, which warns that an LSES could well determine that regulatory compliance would make the supply of electricity by a local solar electricity supplier "uneconomical." [Sponsor In. Br. 26.]

Try as it might, the Sponsor cannot escape the fact that the proposed amendment radically alters the multi-branch, multi-level governmental framework under which the provision of electric service has been regulated for decades. The Solar Initiative does far more than just limit the discretion of the Legislature and

the PSC to regulate local solar electricity providers. It actually prohibits the legislative and executive branches, and all levels of state and local government, from governing and regulating the construction, production, sale, and purchase of solar electricity generated by facilities rated up to 2 megawatts ("MW").<sup>2</sup> It also creates a new class of wholly unregulated mini-utilities that are free to build unlimited large-scale solar generating facilities wherever they want and to charge customers whatever they want, while at the same time eliminating long-standing state and local consumer protection safeguards. How can the Sponsor reasonably argue that the amendment is not a "cataclysmic" change in the way electricity is provided in this state? In any case, the standard this Court has consistently employed in determining compliance with the single-subject rule is whether the amendment substantially alters the function of more than one branch of government or more than one level of government. In this case, the answer is unmistakably in the affirmative.

The opponents have identified no fewer than twelve separate functions of state and local government that the Solar Initiative would not only alter but severely restrict:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As explained in our earlier brief, the summary's reference to "2 megawatts" misleadingly downplays the magnitude of the proposal, and would not prevent a large for-profit corporation from forming multiple special purpose entities each of which could operate a 2 MW facility and supply massive amounts of solar-generated electricity. [FECA In. Br. 28.]

- The legislative function of enacting laws to protect consumers from poor electric service quality, unreasonable electric rates, discriminatory electric rate structures, and unsafe practices of electric service providers;
- The legislative function of enacting laws to protect the reliability of the state's electric grid;
- The legislative function of enacting laws to ensure that electrical generating facilities, including solar facilities, are developed and operated in a safe and environmentally responsible manner;
- The legislative function of the PSC to set rates of private, for-profit electric utilities;
- The quasi-judicial function of the PSC to conduct hearings to resolve disputes over rates, quality of service, and service territories;
- The executive function of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection ("FDEP") to regulate the state's land and water resources through rulemaking, enforcement, dispute resolution and other executive agency actions;
- The executive function of Florida's water management districts to regulate the state's critical water resources through rulemaking, enforcement, dispute resolution and other executive agency actions;
- The executive function of the Florida Attorney General to enforce Florida's Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act to protect consumers who suffer damages as a result of deceptive or unfair practices by local solar electricity suppliers;
- The executive function of the Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Affairs to accurately assess the state's energy resources to plan for and ensure a coordinated state energy program;
- The executive and quasi-judicial functions of state, county and local consumer protection agencies;
- The legislative, executive and quasi-judicial functions of municipal utility boards, including rate setting and quality of service control; and,

• The legislative, executive and quasi-judicial functions of local government building and zoning boards.

The Sponsor cannot hide from the fact that all of these multiple governmental functions would be substantially altered if the Solar Initiative were approved.

#### **II. THE BALLOT TITLE AND SUMMARY ARE DEFECTIVE.**

This Court has made it clear that the accuracy of a ballot title and summary "is of paramount importance" because voters will not have the actual text of the proposed amendment with them when they cast their ballot. <u>Armstrong v. Harris</u>, 773 So. 2d 7, 12-13 (Fla. 2000); <u>Advisory Opinion to Att'y Gen. re Nonpartisan</u> <u>Comm'n To Apportion Legislative and Congressional Districts</u>, 926 So. 2d 1218, 1227 (Fla. 2006) ("Voters deciding whether to approve a proposed amendment to our constitution never see the text of the proposed amendment. They vote based only on the ballot title and the summary. Therefore, an accurate, objective and neutral summary of the proposed amendment is the *sine qua non* of the citizendriven process for amending our constitution.")

#### A. The Title and Summary are Misleading.

The Sponsor concedes that to pass muster the Solar Initiative's title and summary must be written in clear and unambiguous language so that "the voter will have notice of the issue contained in the amendment, will not be misled as to

its purpose, and can cast an intelligent ballot." [Sponsor In. Br. 24.] The Initiative's summary falls woefully short of meeting that standard.

The summary is a classic example of misdirection. Yet, rather than attempt to offer a credible explanation of why it fairly describes the Initiative, the Sponsor's brief seeks to justify that misdirection.

The summary seeks to entice the voter by promising to eliminate barriers to solar power – a promise that the voter would be expected to approve. However, there are no intractable barriers to eliminate. Instead of erecting barriers, Florida law extensively encourages the use of solar power. [FECA In. Br. 29-30.] As this Court stated in <u>Armstrong</u>: "A ballot title and summary cannot either 'fly under false colors' or 'hide the ball' as to the amendment's true effect." 773 So. 2d at 22. This Court should not allow the clever wording of the ballot title and summary to seriously mislead the voter in this manner.

The Solar Initiative has essentially the same defect as the one which was stricken by the Court in <u>Advisory Opinion to the Att'y Gen. re: Casino</u> <u>Authorization, Taxation and Regulation</u>, 656 So. 2d 466 (Fla. 1995). The summary in that case began with the statement which read "This amendment prohibits casinos unless approved by the voters of any county or the Tourist Development Council district who may authorize casinos..." <u>Id</u>. at 467. The Court held that this created "the false impression" that casinos are presently

allowed in Florida and "fail[ed] to inform the voter that most types of casino gaming are currently prohibited by statute." <u>Id.</u> at 469. Likewise, the Solar Initiative's summary creates the false impression that there are current intractable barriers to the use of solar power when that is not the case.

The summary also describes "barriers" as including "unfavorable electric utility rates, charges, or terms of service imposed on local solar electricity customers." (Emphasis supplied.) The term "unfavorable" is not defined in the summary, does not appear in the text of the proposed amendment, and is inherently ambiguous. What is "unfavorable" to one voter may be "favorable" to another, just as what is "fair" to one voter may be "unfair" to another. See Advisory Opinion of the Att'y Gen. re Peoples Property Rights, 699 So. 2d 1304, 1309 (Fla. 1997) (ballot summary stricken because the term "in fairness" depends on subjective understanding of each voter) (receded from on other grounds by Advisory Opinion to Att'y Gen. re 1.35% Property Tax Cap, Unless Voter Approved, 2 So. 3d 968, 972 (Fla. 2009)). The absence of a definition or definitive explanation of "unfavorable" is equally misleading as to what is being voted on. A voter reading just the summary could reasonably assume that the amendment was designed to protect solar customers from having to pay an unfair rate when in fact it would exempt solar customers from having to pay their fair share of the utility's cost of

service. The summary is defective because it induces voters to approve the Initiative under misleading pretenses.

# B. The Title and Summary Fail to Advise the Voter of the Initiative's Full Meaning, Chief Purpose, and Ramifications.

As explained in our earlier brief, the ballot title and summary omitted to tell voters of the meaning and ramifications of a number of key provisions in the proposed amendment. [FECA In. Br. 18-25.] One obvious omission is that voters are given no indication that the amendment contains a provision that would override any state or local health, safety, or welfare regulation if, in the sole judgment of the LSES, the regulation would "have the effect of prohibiting the supply of solar-generated electricity". The fact that an LSES can avoid such regulations that are designed to protect the public due to cost of compliance or other factors is crucial information the voter needs to have before casting a ballot. The summary's failure to even mention this override provision renders the Initiative fatally defective.

The summary is also defective because it gives no hint to voters that the proposed amendment would substantially circumscribe the PSC and its consumer protection responsibilities. Historically, the PSC has been charged with the responsibility of overseeing the delivery of electric power by private for-profit electric utilities, and protecting customers from poor service quality, unreasonable rates, discriminatory rate structures and unsafe practices. The PSC also has safety,

territorial, and rate structure jurisdiction over rural electric cooperatives and municipally-owned electric utilities. The Sponsor's brief readily acknowledges that one of the key objectives of the Initiative is to remove commercial sales of "local solar electricity" from the regulatory jurisdiction of the PSC. [Sponsor In. Br. 21 & 26.] Yet, there is no mention of the PSC or the protections it provides in the title or summary or even in the proposed amendment itself. Nor is there any mention that the amendment would take those consumer protections away from LSES customers. The problem lies not with what the summary says, but, rather with what it does not say. See Askew v. Firestone, 421 So. 2d 151, 155-56 (Fla. 1982).

The title and summary also fail to warn voters that the proposal would ultimately require customers that do not consume solar power from a LSES to pay higher rates to subsidize service to customers that do receive electricity from a LSES. The required subsidy is found in subsection (b)(2) which provides:

No electric utility shall impair any customer's purchase or consumption of solar electricity from a local solar electricity supplier through any special rate, charge, tariff, classification, term or condition of service, or utility rule or regulation, that is not also imposed on other customers of the same type or class that do not consume electricity from a local solar electricity supplier.

The Sponsor argues that the provision is designed to insulate this new breed of solar customer from discriminatory rates. [Sponsor In. Br. 11-12.] But that is not what subsection (b)(2) says. The amendment actually subjects non-solar customers to rate discrimination. Subsection (b)(2) prohibits an electric utility from

charging the new class of LSES customers "any" special rate or charge even though the utility's cost to serve this new class of solar customers likely will be higher than the amount the utility is currently permitted to charge the customer. Because the amendment would prohibit electric utilities from charging "any" special rate to the LSES customers that is higher than what they charge other customers, the only way the utility would be able to recoup those unrecovered costs would be to raise the rates on all customers, including those who do not purchase electricity from the local solar electricity providers. This would result in a classic case of unfair rate discrimination.

The summary fails to warn the voters of this looming potential for rate increases or that non-solar customers would suffer rate discrimination. Surely, the voters are entitled to be advised of these ramifications in the ballot summary before they cast their vote.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the Solar Initiative must not be authorized for placement on the ballot.

Respectfully submitted this 30th day of June, 2015.

## HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP

/s/ Stephen H. Grimes Stephen H. Grimes (FBN 0032005) stephen.grimes@hklaw.com D. Bruce May, Jr. (FBN 354473) bruce.may@hklaw.com P.O. Drawer 810 Tallahassee, FL 32302 Ph. (850) 224-7000 Fax (850) 224-8832

# FLORIDA ELECTRIC COOPERATIVES ASSOCIATION, INC.

William B. Willingham (FBN 879045) fecabill@embarqmail.com Michelle L. Hershel (FBN 832588) mhershel@feca.com 2916 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32301 Ph. (850) 877-6166 Fax (850 656-5485

Counsel for Florida Electric Cooperatives Association, Inc.

## **CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND OF SERVICE**

I HEREBY CERTIFY that this brief was prepared using Times New Roman 14 point type, a font that is proportionately spaced; and that a true and accurate copy of the foregoing was served to the following parties this 30th day of June, 2015:

#### **BY ELECTRONIC MAIL VIA THE FLORIDA COURTS E-FILING PORTAL:**

Robert L. Nabors Gregory T. Stewart William C. Garner Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A. 1500 Mahan Drive, Suite 200 Tallahassee, FL 32308 rnabors@ngnlaw.com gstewart@ngnlaw.com bgarner@ngn-tally.com legal-admin@ngnlaw.com

Hon. Pamela Jo Bondi Attorney General Alfred Legran Saunders Assistant Attorney General Allen C. Winsor, Esq. Solicitor General Rachel Nordby Deputy Solicitor General State of Florida The Capitol, PL-01 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1060 oag.civil.eserve@myfloridalegal.com lagran.saunders@myfloridalegal.com allen.winsor@myfloridalegal.com Timothy M. Cerio, Esq. Counsel to Governor Rick Scott Executive Office of the Governor 400 S Monroe St Tallahassee, FL 32399-6536 tim.cerio@eog.myflorida.com

Adam S. Tanenbaum, Esq. General Counsel Florida Department of State 500 S Bronough St., Suite 100 Tallahassee, FL 32399-6504 adam.tanenbaum@dos.myflorida.com

George T. Levesque, Esq. General Counsel Office of the Senate President 404 S. Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-1100 levesque.george@flsenate.gov

Matthew J. Carson, Esq. General Counsel Office of the House Speaker 422 The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-6507 matthew.carson@myfloridahouse.gov Tory Perfetti, Chairperson Floridians for Solar Choice, Inc. 120 E. Oakland Park Blvd, Ste 105 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33334 george@cavros-law.com

Linda Loomis Shelley Buchanan, Ingersoll & Rooney, PC 101 N. Monroe Street, Ste 1090 Tallahassee, FL 32301 Linda.Shelley@bipc.com

Dan R. Stengle Dan R. Stengle, Attorney, LLC 502 North Adams Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 dstengle@comcast.net

Harry Morrison, Jr. Florida League of Cities, Inc. 301 S. Bronough Street, Suite 300 Tallahassee, FL 32302-1757 cmorrison@flcities.com

Javier L. Vazquez Berger Singerman LLP 1450 Brickell Ave., Suite 1900 Miami, FL 33131 jvazquez@bergersingerman.com mdvila@bergersingerman

Jody Lamar Finklea, B.C.S. Amanda L. Swindle 2061-2 Delta Way Tallahassee, FL 32303 Jody.Finklea@fmpa.com Amanda.Swindle@fmpa.com Floyd R. Self Berger Singerman LLP 125 S. Gadsden St., Suite 300 Tallahassee, FL 32301 fself@bergersingerman.com awalker@bergersingerman.com sfulghum@bergersingerman.com

Craig E. Leen City Attorney, City of Coral Gables 405 Biltmore Way Coral Gables, FL 33134-5717 cleen@coralgables.com

M. Stephen Turner Broad and Cassel 215 S. Monroe St., Ste 400 (32301) Post Office Drawer 11300 Tallahassee, FL 32302 sturner@broadandcassel.com pwilliams@broadandcassel.com mubieta@broadandcassel.com

Susan F. Clark Donna F. Blanton Radey Law Firm 301 S. Bronough, Suite 200 Tallahassee, FL 32301 sclark@radeylaw.com dblanton@radeylaw.com

Raoul G. Cantero T. Neal McAiley White & Case LLP Southeast Financial Center, Ste. 4900 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, FL 33131 Raoul.contero@whitecase.com nmcaliey@whitecase.com W. Christopher Browder Vice President & General Counsel Terrie L. Tressler Deputy General Counsel Orlando Utilities Commission 100 West Anderson Street Orlando, Florida 32801 cbrowder@ouc.com kplajstek@ouc.com

Major B. Harding James D. Beasley Ausley McMullen 123 South Calhoun St. Tallahassee, FL 32301

Jeffrey A. Stone Beggs & Lane, R.L.L.P. P.O Box 12950 Pensacola, FL 32591-2950

John Burnett Duke Energy Florida P.O. Box 14042 St. Petersburg, FL 33733-4042 Carlos G. Muñiz McGuire Woods LLP 215 S. Monroe St., Suite 602 Tallahassee, FL 32301 cmuniz@mcguirewoods.com

Barry Richard Greenberg Traurig, P.A. 101 East College Ave. Tallahassee, FL 32301

Kenneth B. Bell Gunster, Yoakley & Stewart, P.A. 215 S. Monroe St., Suite 601 Tallahassee, FL 32301

Alvin Davis Squire Patton Boggs 200 S. Biscayne Blvd., Suite 4100 Miami, FL 33131-2362

#### BY U.S. MAIL

Hon. Rick Scott Governor, State of Florida Office of the Governor The Capitol 400 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0001

Hon. Steve Crisafulli Speaker, Florida House of Representatives Room 420, The Capitol 402 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1300

Hon. Andy Gardiner President, Florida Senate Senate Office Building, Room 312 404 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100 Hon. Kenneth J. Detzner Secretary of State Florida Department of State R.A. Gray Building, Room 316 500 South Bronough Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Financial Impact Estimating Conference Ms. Amy Baker Coordinator Office of Economic and Demographic Research 111 West Madison Street, Suite 574 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-6588

<u>/s/ Stephen H. Grimes</u> Stephen H. Grimes